## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

## CASE NUMBER: SC02-1206

## HUMANA WORKER'S COMPENSATION SERVICES, FLORIDA BUILDERS & EMPLOYERS MUTUAL INS. CO.,

Petitioners,

v.

HOME EMERGENCY SERVICES, INC.,

Respondent.

On Appeal From the Third District Court of Appeal Case Number: 3D00-2643 Reversing a Final Summary Judgment in favor of the Petitioners from the Eleventh Judicial Circuit Court in and for Miami-Dade County, Florida Case Number 99-8503, Hon. Eleanor Schockett

## REVISED BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF PETITIONERS, HUMANA WORKER'S COMPENSATION SERVICES, INC. and FLORIDA BUILDERS AND EMPLOYERS MUTUAL INS. CO.

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

[Restated]

## I. WHETHER THE MILIANS' SPOLIATION CLAIMS AGAINST HOME EMERGENCY SERVICES FALL WITHIN THE TYPE OF COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE APPLICABLE POLICY.

- A. Whether the underlying complaint alleges damages for "bodily injury" by accident or disease.
- B. Whether the underlying complaint alleges damages for bodily injury arising "out of and in the course of" Mr. Milian's employment, and acts "necessary and incidental" to Home Emergency Services' work.
- II. WHETHER THE EXPRESS POLICY EXCLUSIONS APPLY TO PRECLUDE COVERAGE FOR THE PLAINTIFF'S SPOLIATION CLAIMS AS STATED IN THE UNDERLYING COMPLAINT.
  - B. Whether the policy expressly excludes coverage for liability assumed under a contract thus barring coverage for Count VII of the underlying complaint.
  - B. Whether the policy excludes coverage for any obligation imposed by a workers compensation law thus barring coverage for Count VIII of the underlying complaint.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS**

### **Statement of the Case**

This is a declaratory judgment action. The underlying Plaintiff, Alberto Milian, was injured when he fell from a ladder during the course and scope of his employment with Home Emergency Services. The ladder subsequently disappeared and Mr. Milian and his wife sued Home Emergency Services for spoliation of evidence based on their alleged inability to sue the manufacturer and distributor of the ladder for products liability. The sole issue before this Court is whether the employer's liability policy issued to Home Emergency Services provides coverage for the spoliation claims.

The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of the Petitioner/Insurer, Humana Workers Compensation Services, Inc., and Florida Builders and Employers Mutual Insurance Company (hereinafter collectively referred to as Humana), finding that Humana did not owe a duty to defend or indemnify Home Emergency Services for the claims brought by the Milians. The trial court based its conclusion on a legal determination that the spoliation claims were not claims for "bodily injuries."

The Third District Court of Appeal reversed in an en banc decision, finding that the spoliation claims did state claims for "bodily injury" and, in turn, that Humana had a duty to defend and indemnify Home Emergency Services. <u>Home Emergency</u> <u>Services, Inc. v. Humana Worker's Compensation Services, Inc.</u>, 815 So. 2d 665 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002)(en banc). The Third District also certified conflict with the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision in <u>Norris v. Colony Ins. Co.</u>, 760 So. 2d 1010 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2000). In <u>Norris</u>, the Fourth District held, to the contrary, that a spoliation claim is not a claim for "bodily injury." <u>Id.</u>

Based on the certified conflict, Humana sought discretionary review in this Court. This Court deferred ruling on jurisdiction and ordered the parties to submit their briefs on the merits.

#### **Statement of the Facts**

This case arises out of a complaint filed by Albert Milian and his wife against Home Emergency Services ("the underlying complaint"). (1R 1-42, Exh. B). The underlying complaint alleges that Mr. Milian, a carpenter, sustained serious and permanent injuries to his arm after a ladder collapsed, causing him to fall to the ground (1R 1-42, Exh. B, ¶¶8-12). Mr. Milian received workers compensation benefits which were paid pursuant to Part One, i.e., the Worker's Compensation coverage, of the Humana policy, a copy of which is attached as Appendix A to this Brief (1R 1-42; App. A).

Following his injury, Mr. Milian alleges that Home Emergency Services entered into a contractual agreement to maintain that ladder in its possession, at the request of Mr. Milian's counsel (1R 1-42, Exh. B, ¶13). The underlying complaint further alleges that Florida law imposed a statutory obligation on Home Emergency Services, as Milian's employer, to maintain the ladder in its possession. (1R 1-42, Exh. B, ¶56-67). The underlying complaint cites to Florida's "Workers' Compensation Law" set forth in Chapter 440, specifically, §440.39(7). (1R 1-42, Exh. B, ¶59).

After the ladder was allegedly misplaced or destroyed, the Milians filed suit against the former employer (Home Emergency Services), and the manufacturer (Keller Ladders) and distributor (Home Depot) of the ladder. (1R 1-42, Exh. B). A copy of the underlying complaint is attached hereto as Appendix B. In the two (2) counts against Home Emergency Services, the underlying complaint alleges that Home Emergency Services breached its (1) contractual and (2) statutory duties to maintain the ladder by "negligently and/or intentionally destroying, abandoning, misplacing, or otherwise divesting itself of possession of the ladder." (1R 1-42, Exh. B, ¶¶14, 47-67; Appendix B). The underlying complaint also includes various claims against the manufacturer and the distributor of the ladder (Home Depot and Keller Ladders) for products liability (1R 1-42, Exh. B, ¶¶15-46; Appendix B).

Following receipt of the complaint, Home Emergency Services forwarded a copy of the complaint to Humana and requested coverage for and a defense against the claims by the Milians pursuant to Part Two, the employer's liability portion, of the attached policy.1

Upon receipt of the underlying complaint, Humana took the position that the policy did not provide coverage for the Milians' spoliation claims, as alleged in the underlying complaint, and Humana promptly filed a petition for declaratory relief in order to seek a legal determination regarding its coverage obligations (1R 1-42). Both Humana and Home Emergency Services filed motions for summary judgment and supporting memoranda of law, conceding that the coverage issue was a question of law to be decided by the Court (1R 62-126, 127-135, 136-146, 147-153). After several hearings (SR), the trial court agreed with Humana and concluded that there was no duty to defend or indemnify Home Emergency Services for the Milians' claims. The trial court thus entered a final summary judgment in favor of Humana (1R 154-155). Home Emergency Services' motion for rehearing was denied by the trial court (1R 156-160, 168-169, 170-171) and it appealed to the Third District Court of Appeal (1R 161-163, 164-167). As noted above, the Third District Court of Appeal reversed in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Home Emergency Services also forwarded a copy of the underlying complaint to its commercial general liability carrier, Lincoln Ins. Co., and demanded a defense and indemnification under that policy. In that related case, discussed in further detail below, the Third District first held that the Milians' spoliation claims were claims for "bodily injuries." The Third District nevertheless concluded that coverage was <u>not</u> afforded by the commercial general liability policy based on the application of an express policy exclusion. <u>Lincoln Ins. Co. v. Home Emergency Services</u>, 812 So. 2d 433 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001).

an en banc decision, holding that the subject employer's liability policy did, indeed, provide coverage, thus requiring Humana to defend and indemnify Home Emergency Services. <u>Home Emergency Services</u>, 815 So. 2d at 666. Humana seeks discretionary review in this Court based on the Third District's certified conflict with the Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>Norris</u>, *supra*.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

As with the intermediate appellate courts, this Court reviews *de novo* questions of law as to coverage. *See, e.g.,* <u>Allstate Ins. Co. v. Rush</u>, 777 So. 2d 1027 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2000). It also bears noting that the legal principles applicable to a coverage case provide that it is the allegations of the underlying complaint that govern the insurer's duty to defend the insured under the terms of the applicable insurance policy. <u>Nat'l</u> <u>Union Fire Ins. Co. v. Lenox Liquors, Inc.</u>, 358 So. 2d 533 (Fla. 1977); <u>Aetna</u> <u>Commercial Ins. Co. v. Am. Sign Co.</u>, 687 So. 2d 834 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996). If the alleged facts fall outside the policy coverage or within the exclusionary language, there is no duty to defend. <u>Id.</u> In reviewing the underlying complaint to determine whether the insured has a duty to defend, a court may look only at the factual allegations in the complaint and the applicable language of the insurance policy, i.e., the "eight corners" rule. <u>Allstate Ins. Co. v. Travers</u>, 703 F. Supp. 911 (N.D.Fla. 1988).

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

This coverage action arises out of claims against Home Emergency Services by its former employee, Albert Milian, for spoliation of evidence. Milian's complaint alleges that he has been precluded from bringing suit against the manufacturer and distributor of the ladder from which he fell by virtue of the fact that a piece of evidence, the ladder, is now missing. Because he asserts that his employer had contractually agreed to maintain the ladder, and was statutorily required to do so, Milian sued Home Emergency Services for spoliation, seeking to recover what, arguably, he cannot recover from Keller Ladders and Home Depot.

A spoliation claim like the one asserted by the Milians in this case does not state a claim for bodily injury by accident or bodily injury by disease. The Milians do not allege that any act or omission of Home Emergency Services resulted in his bodily injuries. As such, the trial court in this case appropriately concluded there was no coverage under the employer's liability portion of the Humana policy for the Milians' spoliation claims against Home Emergency Services. That conclusion is in line with the Fourth District Court of Appeal's well-reasoned decision in <u>Norris v. Colony Ins.</u> <u>Co.</u>, 760 So. 2d 1010 (Fla. 2000), with which the Third District certified conflict. In addition, other policy language (both coverage descriptions and express policy exclusions) support a conclusion that there is no coverage here. As such, this Court should reverse the Third District's determination of coverage and adopt the Fourth District's reasoning.

#### ARGUMENT

## I. THE MILIANS' SPOLIATION CLAIMS AGAINST HOME EMERGENCY SERVICES DO NOT FALL WITHIN THE TYPE OF COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE APPLICABLE POLICY.

## A. The underlying complaint does not allege damages for "bodily injury" by accident or disease.

The language of the policy expressly states, "[t]his employers liability insurance applies to bodily injury by accident or bodily injury by disease." *See* Appendix A, Part Two, Subsection A. The Milians' claims against Home Emergency Services are for spoliation of evidence in violation of (1) a contractual agreement to maintain the ladder, and (2) a statutory duty to maintain any evidence to be utilized against a third party (i.e., the ladder).

When confronted with a similar coverage issue involving an underlying spoliation claim, the Fourth District Court of Appeal concluded that a spoliation claim is not covered as a "bodily injury" or "property damage" in a liability contract. *See* <u>Norris v. Colony Ins. Co.</u>, 760 So. 2d 1010 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2000). In essence, the Fourth District concluded that because there is no link between the "occurrence" (the destruction of the evidence) and the "bodily injury," the spoliation claim does not fall within the coverage contemplated by the insurance policy. <u>Id.</u> More specifically, since the "occurrence," i.e., the destruction of evidence, did not result in a "bodily

injury," the Fourth District concluded that the policy did not provide coverage for a spoliation claim. <u>Id.</u>

Although the majority of the original Third District panel agreed with the Fourth District's conclusion, the Third District later addressed rehearing, en banc, and the full court ultimately found to the contrary. In Lincoln Ins. Co. v. Home Emergency Services, Inc., 812 So. 2d 433 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002)(en banc), the related declaratory judgment action involving the general commercial liability policy issued to Home Emergency Services, the Third District concluded that Mr. Milian's fall from the ladder was an "occurrence" and further opined that his claim for spoliation of evidence is properly viewed as being "because of 'bodily injury."" Id. at 437. Thus, the Third District concluded that the spoliation claim was within the scope of the insuring agreement. The Third District's opinion in the present case was based on its findings in the companion Lincoln Ins. Co. case. See Home Emergency Services, Inc. v. Humana Worker's Compensation Services, Inc., 815 So. 2d 665 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002). In the present case, the Third District certified the conflict between its decision and that of the Fourth District in Norris.

In a declaratory judgment action such as this, it is the cause of action or theory of liability (here, spoliation) that determines whether coverage is afforded under an insurance policy. <u>Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co. v. Lenox Liquors, Inc.</u>, 358 So. 2d 533

(Fla. 1977); <u>Commercial Union Ins. Co. v. R.H. Barto, Co.</u>, 440 So. 2d 383 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1983). As held by the Fourth District, a claim for spoliation is not a claim for a bodily injury by accident or disease. To the contrary, the damages recoverable in a spoliation case are for the inability to prove the underlying case because of the lost or destroyed evidence — <u>not</u> for the bodily injury or property damage actually sustained.

In a factually indistinguishable case, an Illinois appellate court was presented with the same question: "[w]hether the damages the [employee] seeks in his negligent spoliation of evidence claim against [his employer] constitutes damages for bodily injury by accident or bodily injury by disease." <u>Fremont Cas. Ins. Co. v. Ace-Chicago Great Dane Corp.</u>, 739 N.E.2d 85, 90 (Ill. App. 2000). The arguments made to the Illinois court by the parties to that action mirror the findings of the diverging appellate court decisions now before this Court.

In <u>Fremont</u>, the insurance company took the position that the employee's negligent spoliation action did not seek damages for bodily injury but, rather, for his alleged inability to prove a cause of action against the manufacturer of the ladder. To the contrary, the employer argued that, in essence, the damages which the Plaintiff sought were for the injury he suffered when he fell from the ladder. The Illinois appellate court decision falls in line with Florida's Fourth District's decision in <u>Norris</u>,

*supra*. Stated the court, "[t]he inability to prove a cause of action against a third party does not fall within the plain and ordinary meaning of the term 'bodily injury.'" <u>Id.</u> at 91.

The injured claimant and the employee in <u>Fremont</u> argued, as Home Emergency Services does here, that such a finding emphasized "form over substance" by focusing on the cause of action asserted rather than the measure of the ultimate injury. This is the argument accepted by Florida's Third District in this case.

Nevertheless, the Illinois court disagreed because liability for the recovery of damages is quite different in a negligence or personal injury action as compared to a spoliation of evidence action. The damages allegedly suffered as a result of the employer's breach of its duty to maintain the ladder is "an inability to prove a cause of action" against the employer, "not bodily injury by accident or disease." As succinctly stated by the <u>Fremont</u> court, "[the employee's] negligent spoliation of evidence action against its employer... is not based on allegations that [the employer's] negligent to his fall from the ladder but on allegations that [the employer's] negligent handling of the ladder deprived him of the ability to recover in a cause of action against the ladder's manufacturer." As the Illinois appellate court held, and the Fourth District similarly concluded, the allegations of a spoliation claim do not bring the action even potentially within the coverage provisions of the insurance

policies at issue.

The United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida similarly found no coverage for an underlying spoliation claim. In <u>Council v. Paradigm Ins.</u> <u>Co.</u>, 133 F. Supp. 2d 1339 (M.D.Fla. 2001), the court implicitly concluded that the spoliation claim was one for property damage, not bodily injury. The court ultimately concluded that there was no coverage under the commercial general liability policy because of an express exclusion for "property damage" to property owned or controlled by the insured. <u>Id.</u> at 1343.

The present case involves an employer's liability policy which does not provide coverage for any property damage at all. Thus, even though the present case, and applicable policy, are distinguishable from those addressed by the Middle District of Florida in <u>Council</u>, its decision is yet another example of a court's legal determination that a spoliation claim is not a "bodily injury" claim.

In addition to these recent holdings, other long-standing decisions independently support Humana's contention that there is no coverage for the Milians' claims in this case. The Milians' alleged damages include financial injury and emotional or psychological damages. Although Mr. Milian suffered a bodily injury as a result of his fall, he recovered the appropriate damages for that injury through workers compensation coverage under Part One of the Humana policy. The claims against the insured in this case do not seek recovery for that bodily injury, but seek recovery based upon Home Emergency Services' actions following that injury. Such claims do not fall within the policy's coverage which is expressly limited to bodily injury by accident or disease.

Claims for financial injury do not fall within coverage specifically limited to bodily injury. *See, e.g.,* <u>Advanced Concrete and Masonry v. Minn. Workers Comp.</u> <u>Assigned Risk Plan,</u> 1997 WL 259967 (Minn. App. 1997)(unpublished opinion)(where policy applied to "bodily injury by accident or bodily injury by disease," it did not cover claims for financial injury); <u>Chatton v. Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh,</u> <u>Pa.,</u> 13 Cal. Rptr. 2d 318 (Cal. App. 1992)(financial loss constitutes injury to intangible property and is not covered as "bodily injury" or "property damage").

Similarly, claims for emotional or psychological damages do not constitute "bodily injury" within policy coverage. Although no Florida court has determined whether emotional distress is a "bodily injury" for insurance coverage purposes, the District Court for the Middle District of Florida has addressed the issue. In <u>Allstate Ins. Co. v. Clohessy</u>, 32 F. Supp. 2d 1333, 1336 (M.D.Fla. 1998), the court stated, "[i]n the context of insurance coverage, 'the overwhelming majority of jurisdictions which have considered the issue hold that 'bodily injury' standing alone or defined in a policy as 'bodily injury [or harm], sickness or disease' is unambiguous and

encompasses only physical harm."<sup>2</sup>

In addition, the Florida appellate courts have determined that spoliation of evidence is based upon "the loss of an intangible beneficial interest... in the preservation of identified evidence." *See* <u>DiGiulio v. Prudential Property and Cas. Ins.</u> <u>Co.</u>, 710 So. 2d 3 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998). This does not support an argument that allegations of spoliation of evidence state a claim for bodily injury.

In sum, Part Two of the policy, the employer's liability portion, does not afford coverage to Home Emergency Services for the Milians' claims for spoliation of

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