IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC02-1206

HUMANA WORKERS COMPENSATION SERVICES, ET AL.,

Petitioners,

v.

HOME EMERGENCY SERVICES, INC.,

Respondent.

Review From Third District Court of Appeal Case Number: 3D00-2643

REVISION I BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENT, HOME EMERGENCY SERVICES, INC.

LANGBEIN & LANGBEIN, P.A. Co-Counsel for Petitioners 20801 Biscayne Boulevard

Suite 506 Aventura, FL 33180 (305) 936-8844 By: Evan J. Langbein Fla. Bar No. 163183

PODHURST, ORSECK, JOSEFSBERG, EATON, MEADOW, OLIN & PERWIN, P.A. 25 West Flagler Street, Suite 800 Miami, FL 33130-1720 (305) 358-2800

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The result here is dictated by rules governing the interpretation of language employed by the adhesion contracts of insurers. <u>State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. CTC Dev. Corp.</u>, 720 So.2d 1072, 1076 (Fla.1998) [overruling <u>Hardware Mut. Cas. Co.</u> <u>v. Gerrits</u>, 65 So.2d 69 (Fla.1953) because <u>Gerrits</u> "...adopted

a more restrictive definition (of "accidents")- a definition that was improperly derived from tort law."] The broad promise of the insurer to the employer is that the insurer:

> "...will pay all sums you legally must pay as damages because of bodily injury to your employee, provided the bodily injury is covered by this Employers Liability Insurance."

The only coverage requirements are that the employee's (here Mr. Milian's) injury "arise out of and in the course of ... employment" and that the employer be claimed liable "in a capacity other than as employer". The policy's coverage language does not require that the employer <u>cause</u> the "bodily injury"-- only that the employer be liable, in part or in whole, "because of bodily injury".

In the instant case, if the MILIANS prevail in the spoliation claims, it will be "because of" the underlying bodily injury to Albert Milian, coupled with the loss of the evidence. Indeed, the MILIANS will only prevail in the spoliation claim if they prove the viability of the underlying claim for bodily injury -- that is, that they would have recovered but for the spoliation. In this sense too, the spoliation recovery would be "because of" the underlying tort.

This Court should reject, as did the district court, the Petitioner's specious contention that the damages for Mr.

Milian's severely injured arm are somehow converted into limited "financial injury and emotional or psychological damages", which HUMANA asserts are not damages "because of bodily injury". (IP. 13). Of course they are damages "because of" bodily injury. To be actionable, the cause of action for spoliation must prove the underlying "damages", which are the same or at least measured by the original accident or wrong. Moreover, HUMANA's policy makes no attempt at such a distinction of what type of "damages" it will pay. Rather, the policy assures HES that HUMANA will pay "all sums you legally must pay as damages", and does not exclude "financial injury", etc. damages from coverage.

HES is not immune from liability for spoliation, having undermined the MILIANS' claim against a third party, merely because HES was Mr. Milian's employer. HES was not sued as employer. Although HES was sued for serious "bodily injury" ... "aris[ing] out of and in the course of employment...," the claim was made against HES in the capacity of an alleged tortfeasor, responsible for preserving a ladder as evidence, not in its capacity as an employer. HES is not immune from liability for spoliation under worker's compensation exclusivity. HES was sued in a capacity "other than as employer...". (R. 21-22)

Moreover, neither policy exclusion invoked by HUMANA--C.1 ["liability assumed under a contract"] or exclusion C. 4 ["any

obligation imposed by a workers compensation ... benefits law, or any similar law..."]-- unambiguously excludes the broad grant of liability coverage for Employer's Liability. <u>See Auto Owners</u> <u>Ins. Co. v. Anderson</u>, 756 So.2d 29, 34 (Fla. 2000) ["...In fact, exclusionary clauses are construed even more strictly against the insurer than coverage clauses. <u>See State Comprehensive Health</u> <u>Ass'n v. Carmichael</u>, 706 So.2d 319, 320 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997)."].

Exclusion C.1 fairly applies only to indemnification contracts when liability is directly "assumed" by contract. It will not be expanded to exclude liabilities "incurred" only when a contract is breached. <u>See Mitchel v. Cigna Prop. & Cas. Ins.</u>, 625 So.2d 862, 864-65, fn. 9 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993) <u>Western World Ins. Co., Inc. v. Travelers Indem. Co.</u>, 358 So.2d 602, 604 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978); <u>Home Ins. Co. v. Southport Terminals, Inc.</u>, 240 So.2d 525 (Fla. 2d DCA 1970). Moreover, the complaint also alleges a common law duty to preserve the evidence, wholly apart from any contractual obligation.

The vague language of exclusion C.4 does not plainly apply because Milians' lawsuit is not for the benefits imposed under the workers compensation law "or any similar law". Employer's Liability coverage (PART TWO) is described as a "gap-filler". It provides "protection in those situations where the employee has a right to bring a tort action despite the provisions of the

workers' compensation statute...." <u>Producers Dairy Delivery Co.</u> <u>v. Sentry Ins. Co.</u>, 41 Cal. 3d 903, 916, 226 Cal. Rptr. 558, 718 P.2d 920, 927 (1986). This is one of those situations. The employer is liable for spoliation -- not as employer and notwithstanding the workers' compensation laws. That is precisely the purpose of the PART TWO liability coverage.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT SHOULD BE APPROVED BECAUSE IT FAITHFULLY ADHERES TO FLORIDA'S TIME-HONORED PUBLIC POLICY AND RULES OF CONSTRUCTION OF BOTH COVERAGE AND EXCLUSIONARY CLAUSES CONTAINED IN ADHESION INSURANCE AGREEMENTS, PARTICULARLY WHEN SUCH CONSTRUCTION ENTAILS NOVEL, JUDICIALLY-CREATED THEORIES OF NEGLIGENCE LIABILITY.

A. HUMANA's Chosen Wording Unambiguously Provides Coverage.

HUMANA's policy is not susceptible even to the claim that its policy has "two reasonable interpretations...." <u>See Union</u> <u>American Ins. Co. v. Maynard</u>, 752 So.2d 1266, 1268 (Fla.4th DCA 2000). "Part Two" unambiguously "<u>applies</u> to bodily injury by accident". If "bodily injury" is an element of the lawsuit against the insured, it is covered if the injury "arises out of and in the course of employment...", and damages are claimed against the insured "in a capacity other than as Employer."

The coverage warrants that HUMANA will "pay all sums" the

insured "legally must pay as damages because of bodily injury". It nowhere requires the damages to be of a particular legal variety, nor that the insured cause the injury, nor that the injury be the only contributing cause to the liability, only that the "recovery is permitted by law."

Further, the policy's term "arise out of" applies only to the injury and has a much broader significance than the words "caused by" in an accident policy, and thus affords the insured much broader protection. <u>See St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v.</u> <u>Thomas</u>, 273 So.2d 117, 120 (Fla.4th DCA 1973); <u>National Indem.</u> <u>Co. v. Corbo</u>, 248 So.2d 238 (Fla. 3d DCA 1971). <u>See also Gov.</u> <u>Employees Ins. Co. v. Novak</u>, 453 So.2d 1116, 1119 (Fla.1984). Such a term should be construed liberally in favor of the insured because its function is to extend coverage broadly. <u>Valdes v.</u> <u>Smalley</u>, 303 So.2d 342 (Fla.3d DCA 1974).

The court explained in <u>Corbo</u>, <u>supra</u>, that "arise out of" ordinarily equates to "originating from", "having its origin in", "growing out of", "flowing from", "incident to, or having connection with" (248 So.2d at 240). In automobile negligence policies, it is settled that "arise out of" does not require "... proximate causation as employed in a negligence action...." <u>Stilson v. Allstate Ins. Co.</u>, 692 So.2d 979, 981 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1997). <u>See also</u> <u>Gov. Employees Ins. Co. v.</u>

<u>Batchelder</u>, 421 So.2d 59, 61 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) ["arise out of the ... use of the automobile" "requires something far short of proximate cause and has been defined as 'some connection' or a 'nexus' between the two (citations omitted)."]. Such terminology in those policies "...must be construed liberally to extend coverage broadly whenever there is 'some nexus' between the car and injury. (citation omitted)." <u>Stilson</u>, 692 So.2d at 981.

B. Rules of Interpreting Policies Mandate Coverage.

If the policy is ambiguous, it must be construed in favor of coverage; or, stated another way, policy ambiguities must be read to cover and indemnify the insured. <u>Auto Owners Ins. Co. v.</u> <u>Anderson</u>, 756 So.2d 29 (Fla. 2000); <u>Sunshine Birds and Supplies</u>, <u>Inc. v. U.S.F. & G.</u>, 696 So.2d 907 (Fla.3d DCA 1997). <u>See also</u> Fla.Stat. § 627.4145 ["readable" policy language legally mandated]. Coverage will be found to exist "whenever possible" [<u>Sanz v. Reserve Ins. Co.</u>, 172 So.2d 912, 913 (Fla.3d DCA 1965)], and insurance policies, written by experts, are construed to avoid absurd results. <u>See Praetorians v. Fisher</u>, 89 So.2d 329, 333 (Fla.1956); <u>James v. Gulf Life Ins. Co.</u>, 66 So.2d 62 (Fla.1953); <u>Westmoreland v. Lumbermens Mut. Cas. Co.</u>, 704 So.2d 176, 188 (Fla.4th DCA 1997) [Judge Gross, specially concurring]. The "proverbial Philadelphia lawyer" should not be summoned to solve riddles within policy language. <u>Hartnett v. Southern Ins.</u>

<u>Co.</u>, 181 So.2d 524, 528 (Fla.1965); <u>U.S. Fire Ins. Co. v.</u> <u>Fleekop</u>, 682 So.2d 620, 628, fn. 9 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996) ["Insurance is unlike Forrest Gump's box of chocolates. The insured is entitled to know exactly what it's getting for its premiums."]; <u>Nat. Merchandise Co., Inc. v. United Service Automobile Ass'n.</u>, 400 So.2d 526, 529 (Fla.1st DCA 1981).

When the term "accident" or "caused by accident" is not defined, a "person-in-the-street" test defines coverage. See, e.q., Roberson v. United Services Auto. Ass'n, 330 So.2d 745, 746 (Fla.1st DCA 1976); Beneficial Standard Life Ins. Co. v. Forsyth, 447 So.2d 459, 461 (Fla.2d DCA 1984). See also MacTown, Inc. v. <u>Continental Ins. Co.</u>, 716 So.2d 289, 292 (Fla.3d DCA 1998). This Court in State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. CTC Dev. Corp., 720 So.2d 1072 (Fla. 1998), confirmed that "when an insurer fails to define a term in a policy,... the insurer cannot take the position that there should be a 'narrow, restrictive interpretation of the coverage provided.' (Citations omitted)." 720 So.2d at 1076. Moreover, insurance policies must be interpreted in accordance with their own terms. Fla.Stat.§ 627.419(1); State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. CTC Dev. Corp., supra. In doing so, the court must apply the policy's language, and not "outmoded" or "improper" principles borrowed from "tort law. <u>Id.</u> at 1076.

The issue of interpretation before the Court is the meaning and effect to be given to the undefined word "because" in the scope of HUMANA's coverage clause. The venerable insurance law cited above requires that the insured benefit from any reasonable construction which most allows coverage. The clauses reviewed states: "We will pay all sums you legally must pay as damages **because** of bodily injury to your employees, ..."

While HUMANA seeks to limit coverage only to liability for damages solely *caused* by bodily injury -- such that the bodily injury be THE cause (or only cause of the liability) -- the insured is entitled to coverage when the bodily injury is A cause of liability for the damages.

Clearly, the language chosen by HUMANA affords acceptance of either usage -- with equal reasonableness. Surely a liability for damages that is in part legally because of a bodily injury to the employee -- but for which there would be no liability here - qualifies as a proper interpretation as a matter of law.

Mr. Milian suffered severe "bodily injury" in an "accident". HES is alleged to have negligently disposed of the ladder which constituted the evidence necessary to prove up the underlying "bodily injury" claim. While the policy never expressly requires it, the damages sought against HES are those damages which the

Plaintiffs would have collected from the tortfeasor for the "bodily injury", but for the spoliation. As the Fourth District Court put it in <u>Builder's Square, Inc. v. Shaw, supra</u>, 755 So.2d at 725: "From the very nature of the spoliation claim, however, it would appear to us that the damages in a spoliation claim are derivative of the damages in a products liability claim whose viability has been spoiled by the loss of critical evidence...." <u>See General Cinema Beverages of Miami, Inc. v. Mortimer</u>, 689 So.2d 276 (Fla.3d DCA 1995).

Damages for bodily injury are an alleged element of the tort claimed against HES. <u>Continental Ins. Co. v. Herman</u>, 576 So.2d 313, 315 (Fla.3d DCA), <u>review denied</u>, 598 So.2d 76 (Fla.1991); <u>Miller v. Allstate Ins. Co.</u>, 650 So.2d 671 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), <u>review denied</u>, 659 So.2d 1087 (Fla. 1995). <u>See also St. Mary's</u> <u>Hosp. v Brinson</u>, 685 So.2d 33, 35, <u>review dismissed</u>, 709 So.2d 105 (Fla. 1998). If the MILIANS prevail, the damages which they will recover are for the "bodily injury" caused by the defendants in the underlying lawsuit, and HUMANA must defend and indemnify HES for those damages under the terms of the policy.

In <u>Miller</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Third District Court accepted the holding of <u>Smith v. Superior Court</u>, 151 Cal.App.3d 491, 498, 198 Cal.Rptr. 829, 834 (1984) that the "underlying lawsuit" and the spoliation claim are "concurrent claims". <u>See</u> 650 So.2d at 673.

The following definitions of "concurrent" are found at <u>Black's</u> <u>Law Dictionary</u> (Rev. 4th Ed. 1968) at pg. 363:

> "Running together; having the same authority; acting in conjunction;...contributing to the same event; contemporaneous...Co-operating, accompanying, conjoined, associated, concomitant, joint and equal, existing together, and operating on the same subject...."

Without question, the spoliation claim in this case is concurrent with the underlying tort claim. It derives from that claim. It requires proof of that claim. Its damages are measured by that claim. It arose "because of" that claim. If HES "legally must pay", it is certainly in part "because of" Mr. Milian's bodily injury.

<u>C. Public Policy & Confusing Decisions Underscore the Ambiguity,</u> and Mandate Coverage.

The courts must be vigilant to insure coverage when the common law is expanded by judicial pronouncement, as here, with the relatively new tort of spoliation. <u>See Travelers Ins. Co.</u> <u>v. Industrial Indem. Co.</u>, 18 Cal.App. 3d 628, 96 Cal. Rptr. 191 (5th Dist. 1971). <u>See also Monroe v. Sarasota Cty. School Bd.</u>, 746 So. 2d 530, 535, fn. 8 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1999) ["...courts hesitate to create negligence claims for which no insurance coverage will be available. <u>See, e.g., Ard v. Ard</u>, 414 So.2d 1066 (Fla. 1982)."]. The California court in <u>Travelers Ins. Co. v.</u>

Industrial Indem. Co., supra, considered an analogous dispute between a CGL carrier and a workers' compensation/employer liability carrier (the same types of carriers denying coverage for HES). An employer sought coverage of its workers' compensation/employer's liability and CGL insurers to defend and indemnify a third party's claim for concurrent tort liability because of injury to an employee. The CGL insurer sought contribution from the workers' compensation/employers liability carrier. California courts had created a claim against an employer for *concurrent* negligence with a third party after the workers' compensation/employers liability policy drafted. was

The court held that both carriers (CGL and the workers compensation/employer's liability carrier) owed the defense and indemnity because "the scope of liability" had been "enlarged by judicial pronouncement". (96 Cal. Rptr. at 194) The court observed that the policy had been written 20 years before the new court-recognized tort liability against an employer. Ιt held that the failure to expand "general" liability coverage for both the employer in its CGL and workers compensation/employers' liability policy would produce a:

> discordant result for it would mean that where courts enlarge liability during the effective period of a liability policy, an

insured who contracted for complete coverage of a possible risk would be left without coverage because the scope of the risk had been enlarged by decisional law. Many examples come to mind where liability has been enlarged by a novel judicial interpretation of the law or by an expanded application of existing law.

When spoliation became part of Florida's common law, the Third District Court noted that "...[n]ew and nameless torts are being recognized constantly...." <u>Bondu v. Gurvich</u>, 473 So. 2d 1307, 1312 (Fla.3d DCA 1984). When the "scope of liability" is enlarged by law, general liability coverages for the insured must be concomitantly enlarged, unless expressly, conspicuously and *unarguably* excluded. <u>Travelers Ins. Co.</u>, <u>supra</u>. The insured remains entitled to "...complete coverage of a *possible* risk." <u>Id. Accord</u>, <u>AIU Ins. Co. v. FMC Corp.</u>, 51 Cal.3d 807, 274 Cal.Rptr. 820, 799 P.2d 1253, 1264, fn. 8 (Sup. Ct. 1990) (approving the holding in <u>Travelers Ins. Co.</u>, <u>supra</u>).

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